1989

Valley Bank and Trust Company, a Utah coporation v. U.S. Title Insurance Company of Dallas, a Texas corporation : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

The Utah Supreme Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to Article VIII, §3 of the Utah Constitution, Utah Code Annotated §78-2-2 (1953 as amended), and Rule 3(a), Rules of the Utah Supreme Court.

NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS

This appeal is from a final judgment entered by the Honorable Homer F. Wilkinson, Third Judicial District Court of Salt Lake County, State of Utah, in favor of U.S. Life Title Insurance Company of Dallas ("U.S. Title") and dismissing Valley Bank and Trust Company's ("Valley Bank") complaint with prejudice.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The following issues are presented for review in this case:

1. Whether the District Court erred in concluding that Valley Bank "created" a prior recorded, but undisclosed lien within the meaning and intent of an exclusion for defects created by the insured contained in a Mortgagee Policy of Title Insurance issued by U.S. Title to Valley Bank, despite the fact that U.S. Title knew about the prior recorded lien, but failed to list it as an exception to coverage.

2. Whether the District Court erred in concluding that a Mortgagee Policy of Title Insurance exclusion for defects created by the insured is effective to exclude coverage for the prior recorded lien under the facts of this case.

3. Whether the District Court erred in concluding that U.S. Title is not liable under the Mortgagee Policy of Title Insurance it issued to Valley Bank for losses incurred by Valley Bank as a result of the existence of a prior recorded, but undisclosed lien.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Nature of the Case

This is an action by Valley Bank to recover the loss it incurred because of U.S. Title's failure to list a prior recorded lien as an exception to coverage under a Mortgagee Policy of Title Insurance (the "Policy") issued by U.S. Title to Valley Bank insuring the priority of a trust deed held by Valley Bank. U.S. Title denies coverage, asserting that coverage is excepted because of a policy exclusion for defects or encumbrances created by the insured.

2. Course of Proceedings

On April 2, 1986, Valley Bank filed an action in the Third Judicial District Court in and for Salt Lake County, State of Utah, against U.S. Title to recover damages caused by U.S. Title's failure to insure the trust deed given to Valley Bank on certain real property. (Record on Appeal, Valley Bank

and Trust Company v. U.S. Life Title Insurance Company of Dallas, Civil No. C86-2379 (hereafter "R."), p. 2). Valley Bank filed a motion for partial summary judgment on July 3, 1986, on the issue of whether the exclusionary provision contained in paragraph 3 of the "Exclusions From Coverage" section of the Policy was enforceable. (R. 31). On August 4, 1986, U.S. Title filed a motion for summary judgment, which was heard, together with Valley Bank's motion for partial summary judgment, by the Honorable Homer F. Wilkinson on August 15, 1986. (R. 64). Both motions were denied. Id.

A trial was held before the Honorable Homer F. Wilkinson on May 14, 1987, at which time the Judge granted judgment in favor of U.S. Title. (R. 95). In his findings of fact and conclusions of law filed on July 7, 1987, Judge Homer F. Wilkinson concluded that Valley Bank's complaint should be dismissed with prejudice upon the merits. (R. 107). Valley Bank moved for a new trial pursuant to Rule 59(a), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, on July 10, 1987, (R. 117), which motion was denied by an Order entered on September 2, 1987. (R. 129-30). Valley Bank filed a Notice of Appeal to the Utah Supreme Court on September 24, 1987. (R. 131).

3. Statement of Facts

a. Identification of the Parties

Valley Bank is a banking corporation incorporated under the laws of the State of Utah. It is a wholly owned

subsidiary of Valley Utah Bancorporation, a Utah corporation, and is a separate and distinct entity from Valley Mortgage Corporation ("Valley Mortgage"). (Transcript of the May 14, 1987, trial of Valley Bank and Trust Company v. U.S. Life Title Insurance Company of Dallas, Civil No. C86-2379 (hereafter "Tr."), p. 3, 8).

Valley Mortgage is also a wholly owned subsidiary of Valley Utah Bancorporation. Id. As a Utah corporation, Valley Mortgage was and is in the business of originating mortgage loans. (Tr. 18). After Valley Mortgage originated such loans, Valley Bank typically closed the loans on Valley Bank documentation. Id. There has never been any suggestion or allegation in this case that Valley Bank and Valley Mortgage are the alter egos of each other.

U.S. Title is a Texas corporation incorporated for the purpose of underwriting and issuing policies of title insurance. One of its agents in the state of Utah is Mountain View Title Company of Ogden, Utah ("Mountain View").

b. Small Business Administration's Grant of the SBA Loan in Early April, 1983

In April, 1983, Valley Bank, through its Small Business Administration Department ("SBA Department"), made a loan (the "SBA Loan") to F. Kent Nance and Patricia J. Nance (the "Nances") in the principal sum of \$65,000. (R. 104). The SBA Loan was secured by a trust deed (the "SBA Trust Deed")

against certain real property (the "Property") owned by the Nances in Summit County, Utah. (R. 104; Exhibit (hereafter "Ex.") 6). The SBA Trust Deed was recorded in the office of the Summit County Recorder on April 5, 1983. (R. 105; Ex. 6).

c. Valley Mortgage's Grant of the Residential Loan in Late April, 1983

Approximately three weeks after Valley Bank made the SBA Loan to the Nances, the Nances approached Valley Mortgage for the purpose of obtaining an additional loan. The Nances executed and delivered to Valley Mortgage a Valley Bank promissory note in the principal sum of \$101,500 (the "Residential Loan"). (R. 104). The Residential Loan was secured by a trust deed (the "Residential Trust Deed") against the Nances' Property, (R. 104), and was recorded in the office of the Summit County Recorder on April 26, 1983. (R. 104; Ex. 1).

To determine the existence of other loans procured by its borrowers, Valley Mortgage did not customarily perform a physical search of its own files or of Valley Bank's files. (Tr. 44-45). Additionally, Valley Mortgage did not have a computer indexing system with which to search for previous loans extended to borrowers. (Tr. 45). Instead, Valley Mortgage typically relied on the borrower's loan application, routine credit checks, preliminary title reports and policies of title insurance to ascertain the existence of prior secured loans. Id.

During the time the Nances applied for and obtained the Residential Loan, they did not disclose the existence of the earlier SBA Trust Deed to either Valley Mortgage or to Valley Bank. (Tr. 21, 22; Ex. 17). At the time the Residential Loan closed, Valley Mortgage's loan officer in charge of the Residential Loan, Paul Thurston ("Thurston"), was unaware of the existence of the SBA Loan. (R. 105). Furthermore, Thurston never discussed with any representative of Valley Bank the existence of other loans which the Nances might have had with Valley Bank. (Tr. 36-37, 40).

d. Valley Mortgage's Procuring of the Commitment of Title Insurance

As a condition to closing the Residential Loan and in order to determine all liens or encumbrances which might have existed against the Property, Valley Mortgage requested a title report from U.S. Title's agent, Mountain View. (Tr. 22). On April 15, 1983, U.S. Title issued a Commitment of Title Insurance (the "Commitment") to Valley Bank. (Tr. 24; Ex. 2). The Commitment listed as exceptions to coverage liens held by First Security Bank of Utah and Citizens Bank. (Tr. 26; Ex. 2). The Commitment did not disclose the existence of the SBA Trust Deed previously recorded on April 5, 1983. Id.

In connection with the closing of the Residential Loan, Valley Mortgage issued written closing instructions to Mountain View directing Mountain View to "[s]earch title to

date and record above documents providing nothing has been filed or recorded affecting subject property since last certificate date." (Tr. 32, 33; Ex. 15). Remarkably, Mountain View recorded the Residential Trust Deed despite the fact that the SBA Trust Deed had been of record for some three weeks. (Ex. 1).

e. U.S. Title's Issuance of the Policy.

Three months later, in July, 1983, U.S. Title issued a Mortgage Policy of Title Insurance to Valley Bank, insuring the Residential Trust Deed as a first and paramount lien against the Property. (R. 104; Ex. 3). The Policy made no mention of the SBA Trust Deed as an exception to coverage. Id.

Prior to issuing the Policy, Mountain View, through its president, Michael L. Hendry ("Hendry"), acquired actual knowledge of the existence of the SBA Trust Deed. (R. 105; Tr. 132, 134). Mountain View may have been aware of the SBA Trust Deed through a vice president, Kevin N. Parkinson, as early as April 26, 1983, the date the Residential Trust Deed was recorded (Tr. 120, 121-22, 127-28, 146, 149-50). Mountain View did not, however, communicate that knowledge to Valley Mortgage before issuing the Policy. (Tr. 134, 138, 160-61).

f. Valley Mortgage's Sale of the Residential Loan and Residential Loan Trust Deed in the Secondary Mortgage Market

After originating a loan, Valley Mortgage commonly, if not always, sold the loan in the secondary mortgage market. (Tr. 23). In this case, Valley Mortgage sold the Residential Loan and Trust Deed to Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation ("Federal Home"). (R. 104; Ex. 5). Prior to the sale, Valley Bank assigned the Residential Trust Deed to Valley Mortgage and Valley Mortgage assigned the Trust Deed to Federal Home. (Tr. 38; Ex. 4, 5). In connection with both assignments, Valley Bank and Valley Mortgage warranted that the Residential Trust Deed was a first lien on the Property. (R. 2).

In its instruction letter to Mountain View governing recordation of the Residential Trust Deed, Valley Mortgage specifically requested an indorsement on the Policy so that the transferee of the Residential Loan and Trust Deed, Federal Home, could be named as an insured. (R. 104; Tr. 37). At the time Mountain View received Valley Mortgage's closing instructions, Mountain View, through its president, Hendry, knew of Valley Mortgage's assignment of the Residential Loan and Trust Deed. (Tr. 135-36, 137). Though Hendry knew of the assignment to Federal Home and of the earlier recorded SBA Trust Deed, Hendry failed to disclose the existence of the SBA Trust Deed to Federal Home. (Tr. 136).

g. Valley Bank's Repurchase of the Residential Loan.

In early 1984, the Nances defaulted on both the SBA and Residential Loans. (R. 105). The Nances also defaulted on a loan made to them by Intermountain Thrift & Loan ("Intermountain"), (R. 105), a wholly owned subsidiary of Valley Utah Bancorporation. (Tr. 7-8). After filing a notice of default, (Ex. 8), Intermountain sold the Property and an adjacent lot by trustee's sale to Valley Bank as the successful bidder. (R. 105-06).

After the default, Federal Home also instituted foreclosure proceedings against the Property. In connection with the proceedings, Federal Home obtained a title report pertaining to the Property, from which it learned of the existence of the prior recorded SBA Trust Deed. (Tr. 54). Thereafter, Federal Home submitted a claim to U.S. Title, demanding that U.S. Title provide coverage for the SBA Trust Deed. (Tr. 54-55; Ex. 23). Concurrently, Federal Home and Valley Bank entered into negotiations in an effort to solve the problems which had arisen because of the SBA Trust Deed. (Tr. 56). Because those negotiations were unsuccessful, Federal Home made demand in early 1986 upon Valley Bank, demanding that Valley Bank either repurchase the Residential Loan or bring it current. (Tr. 56; Ex. 10). U.S. Title formally denied coverage in November, 1985, (Tr. 68-69; Ex. 11), though the testimony indicates that U.S. Title had verbally denied

coverage prior to that date. (Tr. 69-71). As a result, Valley Bank was forced to repurchase the Residential Loan from Federal Home for the sum of \$103,912.78. (R. 4; Ex. 12). Federal Home did not complete foreclosure proceedings against the Property. (Tr. 58).

h. Terms of the Mortgagee Policy of Title Insurance

In the case at bar, U.S. Title issued the Policy to Valley Bank, insuring that the Residential Trust Deed was a first and paramount lien against the Property. (R. 104; Ex. 3). The insuring provision of the Policy provides as follows:

[The Insurer], insures . . . against
loss or damage . . . sustained or
incurred by the insured by reason of:

2. Any defect in or lien or
encumbrance on such title;

6. The priority of any lien or
encumbrance over the lien of the
insured mortgage. . . .

(Ex. 3).

The Policy also contains a number of exclusions from coverage. The title policy exclusion which is at the heart of this case provides as follows:

The following matters are expressly
excluded from the coverage of this
policy: . . .

Defects, liens, encumbrances,
adverse claims, or other matters
(a) created, suffered, assumed or

agreed to by the insured claimant; . . .

(Ex. 3, "Exclusions from Coverage").

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

1. Argument I

In reviewing a trial court's conclusions of law, an appellate court should give no deference to those conclusions, but reviews the conclusions for correctness. Because Valley Bank challenges only the District Court's conclusions of law, this court should review those conclusions for correctness.

2. Argument II(A)

As a policy of title insurance, the Policy involved in this case is a warranty of the state of title as represented by the insurer. Exclusions to the Policy must be construed strictly against the insurer and liberally in favor of the insured and must be construed in accordance with important public policy.

3. Argument II(B)

Valley Bank's primary contention is that the exclusion for defects created by the insured, contained in paragraph 3(a) of the Policy, should be construed to be inapplicable to the facts of this case. Instead, the exclusion for defects created by the insured should be enforced only where the insured has engaged in fraud or misconduct. Because there is

no showing that Valley Bank acted in bad faith or inequitably, the exclusion should not apply to deny coverage for the SBA Trust Deed.

4. Argument II(C)

The exclusion should not apply for the further reason that U.S. Title had actual knowledge of the prior recorded SBA Trust Deed at the time it issued the Policy to Valley Bank. Not only did U.S. Title fail to list the SBA Trust Deed as an exception to coverage in the Policy, but it also failed to disclose the existence of the lien to Valley Bank, Valley Mortgage or to the assignee of the Residential Loan and Trust Deed, Federal Home.

5. Argument II(D)

The fact that neither Valley Mortgage nor Valley Bank had actual knowledge of the existence of the prior recorded SBA Trust Deed provides additional support for the argument that Valley Bank should not be deemed to have "created" the prior encumbrance within the meaning and intent of the exclusion. As interpreted by courts, the word "create" implies that the insured must have actual knowledge of the defect. Because neither Valley Mortgage nor Valley Bank had actual knowledge of the SBA Trust Deed, Valley Bank should not be deemed to have "created" the SBA Trust Deed.

6. Argument III

Public policy and principles of equity dictate that U.S. Title not be allowed to escape coverage for the SBA Trust Deed. While U.S. Title breached its contractual obligations under the Policy by failing to list the SBA Trust Deed as an exception to coverage and by failing to disclose its existence to Valley Bank, Valley Bank complied with its obligations under the Policy and was innocent in its dealings with U.S. Title. To enforce the exclusion under the facts of this case, would encourage negligence and sanction wrongdoing on the part of U.S. Title.

7. Argument IV

Finally, U.S. Title is equitably estopped from asserting the exclusion for defects created by Valley Bank as a bar to coverage. By issuing the Policy, U.S. Title represented that the SBA Trust Deed did not exist. Valley Bank, in turn, relied on the representations made in the Policy in assigning the Residential Trust Deed and Loan to Federal Home, and warranting to Federal Home that the Residential Trust Deed was in first position. As a result of Valley Bank's reliance, it was later forced to repurchase the Residential Loan from Federal Home, thereby incurring the loss which it is now attempting to recover.

ARGUMENT I

THE SUPREME COURT IS NOT
REQUIRED TO ACCORD ANY
DEFERENCE TO THE DISTRICT
COURT'S CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
AND REVIEWS THOSE CONCLU-
SIONS FOR CORRECTNESS

It is a well settled principle of appellate review that an appellate court is not required to accord any deference to the lower court's conclusions of law. Wessel v. Erickson Landscaping Co., 711 P.2d 250, 253 (Utah 1985). This court has consistently held that in reviewing the trial court's legal conclusions, the reviewing court reviews the lower court's legal conclusions for correctness. Id.; Scharf v. BMG Corp., 700 P.2d 1068, 1070 (Utah 1985).

In this appeal, Valley Bank accepts as true each of the factual findings adopted by the District Court. See R. 103-07. Thus, Valley Bank readily endorses the crucial facts that at the time Valley Mortgage closed the Residential Loan, it did not know of the prior SBA Loan obligation, (R. 105), and that at the time the Policy was issued, U.S. Title knew of the recorded SBA Trust Deed. (R. 105).

Valley Bank does, however, challenge the District Court's conclusion of law, paragraph "A," that Valley Bank "created" the SBA Trust Deed within the meaning of the Policy. Valley Bank further challenges the trial court's conclusion of law, paragraph "B," that paragraph 3(a) of the Policy is effective to exclude the SBA Trust Deed from coverage. Finally,

contrary to the District Court's conclusion of law, paragraph "C," Valley Bank contends that U.S. Title is liable under the Policy for losses incurred by Valley Bank as a result of the existence of the SBA Trust Deed. As demonstrated below, the District Court misapplied the law governing the circumstances under which exclusions for defects created by the insured are enforced.

ARGUMENT II

THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT VALLEY BANK "CREATED" THE SBA TRUST DEED WITHIN THE MEANING AND INTENT OF THE EXCLUSION FOR DEFECTS CREATED BY THE INSURED

A. The Policy Constitutes an Unequivocal Warranty Against Prior Recorded Liens and Encumbrances and Policy Exclusions Must be Construed Against U.S. Title

This court has held in Bush v. Coult, 594 P.2d 865 (Utah 1979), that title insurance policies are warranties that the state of title is as the insurer has represented it to be. Bush v. Coult, 594 P.2d at 867. See also Lawyers Title Insurance Corp. v. Research Loan & Investment Corp. 361 F.2d 764, 767 (8th Cir. 1966). According to the Bush court, "[a] title policy is much in the nature of a covenant of warranty or a covenant against encumbrances." Id. (quoting Empire Development Co. v. Title Guaranty and Trust Co., 225 N.Y. 53, 121 N.E. 468, 470 (1918)).

Not only must the Policy be viewed as a warranty of title, but exclusions, exceptions, and limitations to insuring agreements must be construed strictly against the insurer and liberally in favor of the insured so as to afford the greatest possible coverage to the insured. National Union Fire Insurance Co. of the State of Pennsylvania, Inc. v. Reno's Executive Air, Inc., 100 Nev. 360 682 P.2d 1380, 1383 (Nev. 1984); Safeco Insurance Co. of America v. Davis, 44 Wash. App. 161, 721 P.2d 550, 551 (1986). In accordance with that rule, paragraph 3(a) must be construed broadly so as to afford coverage for Valley Bank.

Finally, policies of title insurance should be construed as a whole to give effect to the parties' reasonable expectations and must also be construed in accordance with important public policy. Stanton v. Public Employees Mutual Insurance Co., 13 Wash. App. 904, 697 P.2d 259, 261 (1985). As discussed below in Argument III, to enforce the exclusion for defects created by the insured under the circumstances of this case would be contrary to the public policies discouraging negligence and encouraging parties' compliance with their contractual obligations.

In this case, the District Court failed to appreciate the unconditional warranty against prior encumbrances contained in the Policy, to construe the title policy exclusion

liberally in favor of Valley Bank and strictly against U.S. Title, and to interpret the exclusion in light of important public policy.

B. In the Absence of Fraud or Misconduct on the Part of Valley Bank, the Exclusion for Defects Created by the Insured Should Not Apply

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