1989

Valley Bank and Trust Company, a Utah corporation v. U.S. Title Insurance Company of Dallas, a Texas corporation : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

In the instant case the interpretation [of the evidence] most favorable to appellant is "conscious, deliberate causation on the part of appellant. Appellant testified, and the trial court found, that appellant's conduct throughout the entire transaction was intentional and deliberate and not inadvertent or mistaken. Accordingly, the exclusionary provisions are applicable for the reason that appellant

"created" the "adverse claim" against which he seeks to have Safeco defend him. Since the exclusion applies, there is no duty to defend."

18 A.L.R.4th at 1309 (emphasis added).

It is significant to note that the court in Safeco Title did not emphasize any misconduct on the part of the insured, even though there appeared to have been such, but rather based its conclusion on the fact that the actions of the insured constituted "conscious, deliberate causation." The obvious inference is that the court believed that application of the "created" exclusion requires a showing of "intentional and deliberate" causation, not the mere absence of fraud or misconduct.

Since in this case it is clear that Valley Bank's SBA Department intended to "create" the SBA Trust Deed, that lien was excluded from Policy coverage.

B. U.S. LIFE TITLE'S KNOWLEDGE OF THE EXISTENCE OF THE SBA TRUST DEED IS IRRELEVANT TO A DETERMINATION OF WHETHER VALLEY BANK "CREATED" THAT LIEN.

In Argument II.C. of its Brief, Appellant suggests the novel theory that the "created" exclusion found in paragraph 3(a) of the Policy is only applicable if the insurer has no knowledge of the title defect.⁴ As authority for this proposition

⁴The heading to Appellant's Argument II.C. states, "Because U.S. Title knew about the SBA Trust Deed, Valley Bank should not be deemed to have created the SBA Trust Deed within the meaning of the exclusion."

Valley Bank cites the cases of Hansen v. Western Title Ins. Co., supra, and Ginger v. American Title Ins. Co., 29 Mich. App. 279, 185 N.W. 2d 54 (1970). A close reading of those cases reveals, however, that Valley Bank's reliance on them is misplaced.

As noted above, in Hansen the defect in the title which the insured was supposed to have "created" consisted of an ambiguity in a recorded document signed by the insured and drafted by the insured's attorney. In response to the insurer's contention that the title defect had been "created" by the insured within the meaning of the policy exclusion the court recited the rule that the word "created" implies "an intentional doing by the insured". 220 Cal.App.2d at 536. The court went on to suggest, however, that even where the lien had been created by inadvertence, the exclusion might still apply if the insurer had no notice of the defect, but the insured did. It said:

Although we would be inclined to make an outright restriction of the word "created," as used in the policy, to an intentional doing by the insured, nevertheless, because of our unwillingness to decide more than we must in a case so lacking in precedent, we limit our ruling to a case in which the insured did not intentionally produce the claim and in which the insurer itself had opportunity to know the defect. It is conceivable that a case could arise where the insured's inadvertence or mistake would produce a defect which would be outside the power of the insurer reasonably to find; but such a case is far removed from this.

Id. (emphasis added).

Thus, far from standing for the proposition that the exclusionary language is inapplicable where the insurer was aware of the defect, Hansen suggests a possible exception to the general rule requiring an intentional act by the insured, if the title insurer could not reasonably have known of the defect.

By contrast, Ginger v. American Title involved not only interpretation of the "created" exclusion, but also a second standard exclusion as to defects, liens, and encumbrances "known to the insured . . . and not shown by the public records, unless disclosure thereof in writing by the insured shall have been made to the company [insurer] . . ."⁵ As to the applicability of the two exclusions the court stated:

The defect in this case was the fraudulent character of the purported conveyance. Such defect was known to plaintiff but not disclosed to his insurer. We hold that this defect was expressly excluded from coverage in the policy under . . . [both clauses].

Id. at 56.

Although the court in Ginger did not further describe the facts which gave rise to application of each exclusion, the logical inference is that the insured's failure to disclose the fraudulent conveyance to the title insurer was relevant only to the applicability of the second exclusion (which is identical to

⁵An identical provision appears in the Policy as Exclusion 3(b).

paragraph 3(b) of the Policy), since it specifically requires that the insured give notice of defects to the title insurer.

Furthermore, the language of the Policy gives no support to the notion that a lien is not "created" by the insured if the title insurer knows of its creation. Indeed, since Exclusion 3(a) makes no mention of notice to the insurer, while Exclusion 3(b) specifically requires that such notice be given, the clear implication is that knowledge or notice is not a prerequisite to the application of subparagraph (a). This fact, coupled with the absence of any authority which supports Valley Bank's theory, must lead to the rejection of that theory.

C. VALLEY BANK KNEW OF THE EXISTENCE OF THE SBA TRUST DEED.

In Argument II.D. of its Brief Valley Bank suggests that the exclusion of paragraph 3(a) is inapplicable because "Valley Bank did not have knowledge of the SBA Trust Deed". (Brief of Appellant, p. 25.) As discussed in Point I.A.1. of this Brief, the argument erroneously focuses upon Valley Bank's knowledge, rather than its intent. Nonetheless, since knowledge and intent are closely related, it may be useful to examine the evidence and applicable legal principles which demonstrate that Valley Bank did in fact have knowledge of the existence of the SBA Trust Deed.

At the outset it must be conceded that although there was a dispute in the evidence on the issue, the trial court found that the loan officer for Valley Bank who made the Residential Loan,

Paul Thurston, did not know of the existence of the SBA Trust Deed. (See Finding 5., R. 105.)⁶ If, therefore, knowledge of the existence of the SBA Trust Deed could only be imparted to Valley Bank through Mr. Thurston, one would have to concede that Valley Bank did not have knowledge of the encumbrance.

The flaw in Valley Bank's reasoning lies in the fact that the Bank had other agents who had knowledge of the existence of the SBA Trust Deed, namely, the employees of its SBA Department. Indeed, Appellant freely admits that "the SBA Department created the SBA Trust Deed." (Brief of Appellant, p. 29.) The significance of this fact is, of course, that an agent of Valley Bank--the SBA Department--knew of the existence of the SBA Trust Deed because it took that Trust Deed as collateral for a loan which it made to the Nances. Accordingly, Valley Bank, as principal, had knowledge by virtue of the knowledge of its agent. This principle was long ago recognized by this court:

Ordinarily notice to an agent touching the subject-matter of his agency or in regard to the transaction in which he is engaged is notice to his principal.

B.T. Moran, Inc. v. First Security Corporation, 82 Utah 316, 24 P.2d 384, 387 (1933). See also, RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF AGENCY, § 272 (1958).

⁶"The officer of plaintiff who closed the Residential Loan, Paul Thurston, was unaware at the time of closing of the existence of the SBA loan."

From the foregoing it is clear that even if paragraph 3(a) of the Exclusions requires knowledge of the defect by Valley Bank, the Bank did, in fact, have such knowledge by virtue of the knowledge of the existence of the SBA Trust Deed by the employees of Valley Bank's SBA Department.

POINT II:

U.S. LIFE TITLE HAD NO DUTY TO DISCLOSE THE EXISTENCE OF THE SBA TRUST DEED ON THE POLICY OR THE COMMITMENT.

Valley Bank argues in Argument II.A. of its Brief that the Policy contains an implied warranty of title, which U.S. Life Title breached by failing to list the SBA Trust Deed as an exception on Schedule B. For the reasons set forth in subpoints A and B below, Valley Bank's argument must be rejected. In any case, as discussed in Point IV below, Valley Bank has suffered no loss as a result of the omission of the SBA Trust Deed from the list of exceptions contained in the Policy.

A. U.S. LIFE TITLE HAD NO DUTY UNDER THE POLICY TO LIST THE SBA TRUST DEED.

Valley Bank contends that, as a general principle, title insurers have a duty to their insureds to list all encumbrances on the insured property. Valley Bank's argument is based upon a misunderstanding of this court's decision in the case of Bush v. Coult, 594 P.2d 865 (Utah 1979), in which the court noted that "the policy of title insurance is in the nature of a warranty"

(quoting Research Loan & Investment Corp. v. Lawyers Title Ins. Corp., 361 F.2d 764 (8th Cir. 1966)) (emphasis added). In Bush v. Coult the court had to determine whether an insured had the obligation to investigate the accuracy of certain information indicating a possible cloud on title and to disclose that information to the insurer. This court held that "the law imposes no duty upon one who seeks title insurance to perform the responsibilities of the insurer to ascertain the state of title." Id. at 867. The court supported that conclusion by pointing out that it is the title insurer's duty, not the insured's, to research the status of the title. The court did not say, however, that the policy itself contained implied covenants against encumbrances. Such a view would, in effect, impose upon a title insurer the duties of an abstracting company.

This precise issue was raised in the case of Houston Title Co. v. Ojeda De Toca, 733 S.W. 2d 325 (Tex. App.--Houston 1987) where the court stated:

The duties owed by a title insurance company to its insured have been well documented and are more easily understood in terms of the relationship between the two. The title insurance company is not, as is an abstract company, employed to examine title; rather, the title insurance company is employed to guarantee the status of title and to insure against existing defects. Thus, the relationship between the parties is limited to that of indemnitor and indemnitee.

Id. at 327.

Similarly in Lawrence v. Chicago Title Ins. Co., 237 Cal.

Rptr. 264 (Cal.App. 1987) the court stated:

The insurer does not represent expressly or impliedly that the title is as set forth in the policy; it merely agrees that, and the insured only expects that, the insurer will pay for any losses resulting from, or he will cause the removal of, a cloud on the insured's title within the policy provisions. . . . A title policy is not a summary of the public records and the insurer is not supplying information; to the contrary he is giving a contract of indemnity. The title insurer, as any other insurer, can and does assume the risk of its policy. Every insurer can and does contract to indemnify against specific risks . . . Accordingly, when the contingency insured against under the policy occurs, the title insurer is not, by that fact alone, liable to the insured for damages in contract or tort, but rather is obligated to indemnify the insured under the terms of the policy.

Id. at 267 (emphasis in original text).

The language of the Policy itself supports the interpretation of title insurance policies offered by these courts. The front page of the policy states:

Subject to the Exclusions From Coverage, the exceptions contained in Schedule B and the provisions of the Conditions and Stipulations hereof, U.S. Life Title Insurance Company of Dallas . . . insures, as of the Date of Policy shown in Schedule A, against loss or damage, not exceeding the amount of insurance stated in Schedule A, and the costs, attorney's fees and expenses which the Company may become obligated to pay hereunder, sustained or incurred by the insured by reason of:

. . . .

2. Any defect in or lien or encumbrance on such title.

(Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 3, first page.) Thus, the Policy is a contract to indemnify Valley Bank for any loss suffered as a result of any encumbrances not excluded or excepted from the Policy. The Policy is not a warranty that no other encumbrances exist, and by its very terms the Policy does not cover a loss arising from U.S. Life Title's failure to list such an encumbrance. It follows that Valley Bank may only recover damages from U.S. Life Title if the SBA Trust Deed falls within the coverage of the Policy. Since, as demonstrated in Point I, above, the SBA Trust Deed is excluded from coverage, Valley Bank is without a remedy.

B. EVEN IF THE POLICY IMPOSES THE DUTIES OF AN ABTRACTOR
ON U.S. LIFE TITLE, ENCUMBRANCES CREATED BY VALLEY BANK
NEED NOT BE REPORTED.

If, as Valley Bank contends, the Policy imposes on U.S. Life Title an implied duty to disclose encumbrances on the insured property, that duty is nonetheless circumscribed by the written provisions of the Policy. Thus, if one assumes that coverage under the Policy includes the duty to disclose encumbrances, it must also be true that the Policy's "Exclusions From Coverage" are applicable. That conclusion is consistent with the language of paragraph 3 of the "Conditions and Stipulations" of the Commitment which states:

In no event shall such liability [i.e., the liability of the insurer under the Commitment] exceed the amount stated in Schedule A for the policy or policies committed for and such

liability is subject to the insuring provisions, the Conditions and Stipulations, and the Exclusions From Coverage of the form of policy or policies committed for in favor of the proposed insured which are incorporated by reference and are made a part of this Commitment except as expressly modified herein.

(Plaintiffs' Exhibit 2 last page.) (Emphasis added.)

Thus, we come full circle: whether Valley Bank's theory is based upon the written provisions of the Policy or upon implied duties, the Bank must still show that it did not consciously or deliberately create the SBA Trust Deed. Since, as demonstrated in Point I, above, it cannot meet that burden, the Bank's argument must be rejected.

POINT III:

U.S. LIFE TITLE IS NOT ESTOPPED FROM RELYING UPON THE EXCLUSIONS OF THE POLICY.

As discussed in Argument IV of its Brief, Valley Bank contends that application of the doctrine of equitable estoppel would prohibit U.S. Life Title from raising paragraph 3(a) of the Exclusions as a defense to this action. While it is tempting to debate whether the facts of the case support the Bank's assertion, in reality such a discussion is unnecessary because Valley Bank's knowledge of the existence of the SBA Trust Deed and its failure to plead or argue the estoppel issue at trial preclude the Bank from raising the issue before this court. Those two grounds will be discussed separately in the subpoints which follow.

A. THE DOCTRINE OF EQUITABLE ESTOPPEL IS INAPPLICABLE BECAUSE VALLEY BANK KNEW OF THE EXISTENCE OF THE SBA TRUST DEED.

As has been demonstrated in Point I.C., supra, Valley Bank knew of the existence of the SBA Trust Deed from its inception because that lien was obtained from the Nances as collateral for the SBA Loan. It is well recognized that such knowledge disqualifies the possessor from asserting the doctrine of equitable estoppel against another. 28 Am Jur 2d Estoppel and Waiver § 95 (1966). Thus, this court has stated:

The doctrine of equitable estoppel does not operate in favor of one who has knowledge of the essential facts or who has convenient and available means of obtaining such knowledge.

Morgan v. Board of State Lands, 549 P.2d 695, 697 n.4 (Utah 1976).

Inasmuch as Valley Bank had knowledge of the existence of the SBA Trust Deed, it follows that it may not seek application of the doctrine of equitable estoppel against U.S. Life Title.

B. VALLEY BANK MAY NOT ASSERT THE DOCTRINE OF EQUITABLE ESTOPPEL BECAUSE IT FAILED TO RAISE THE ISSUE BELOW.

This court adheres to the well-recognized view that:

[W]here a party neither raises an issue in its pleadings nor presents it to the trial court, the issue cannot be considered for the first time on appeal.

Park City Utah Corp. v. Ensign Co., 586 P.2d 446, 450 (Utah 1978);

Hanover Limited v. Fields, 568 P.2d 751, 753 (Utah 1977).

This principle applies to Valley Bank's theory of equitable estoppel. Unless estoppel is pleaded or a claim

regarding estoppel is made before the trial court, an appellate court may not consider that theory. Currie v. Great Central Insurance Co., 374 So.2d 1330, 1333 (Ala. 1979); Peterson v. Moulton, 144 A.2d 717, 720 (Vt. 1958); Valley Loan Service v. Neal, 235 P.2d 932, 935 (Okla. 1951).

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